THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Circuit Court Judge Bentley Price

Case 2018-CP-10-00123
Appellate Case No. 2020-001460

RECEIVED

JUN 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Andrew HaLevi, Ph.D.,

Appellant,

vs.

Charleston County School District,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BLOODGOOD & SANDERS, LLC
Nancy Bloodgood, SC Bar No.: 6459
Lucy C. Sanders, SC Bar No.: 78169
242 Mathis Ferry Road, Suite 201
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
Telephone: (843) 972-0313
Counsel for Appellant

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Lower Court err in granting summary judgment on Appellant's defamation by *innuendo* cause of action?
2. Did the Lower Court err in holding as a matter of law that Charleston County School District Board Member Chris Collins was not speaking in his official capacity when he made derogatory comments about Appellant?
3. Did the Lower Court err in holding as a matter of law that Appellant was a "public official" for purposes of the defamation cause of action?
4. Did the Lower Court err in holding as a matter of law that statements of opinion cannot be defamatory?
5. Did the Lower Court err in holding as a matter of law that Appellant could not bring a cause of action for violation of his due process rights?
6. Did the Lower Court err in holding as a matter of law that Appellant could not bring a breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing cause of action?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed a Complaint on January 11, 2018 alleging three (3) causes of actions against Respondent: defamation *per se*, violation of due process under the State Constitution, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (R. pp. 41-43.) On February 7, 2018, Respondent filed an Answer. (R. pp. 45-49.) On May 11, 2020, Respondent filed a Motion and Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 71-259.) Appellant filed a Response to the Motion for Summary Judgment on June 3, 2020. (R. pp. 260-513.) Respondent filed a Reply to the Response on June 5, 2020. (R. pp. 514-535.)

On June 24, 2020, a hearing was held before Judge Bentley Price. (R. pp. 571-592.) On June 25, 2020, Judge Price issued a “Form 4” Order denying Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment in its entirety. (R. pp. 3-5.) On July 6, 2020 Respondent filed a Rule 59 (e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment of the Court (R. pp. 536-541.) Plaintiff filed a Response to the Motion to Amend or Alter on August 5, 2020. (R. pp. 542.) Respondent’s Rule 59 (e) Motion was heard by Judge Price on September 23, 2020. (R. pp. 593-610.) On October 16, 2020, Judge Price issued an Order granting Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 6-28) and this appeal followed.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is clear that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002). “[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment. Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). “A court considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony.” David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 250, 626 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2006).

IV. FACTS

Appellant obtained a B.A. in English from Skidmore College, a Masters in Reading and Language from Harvard, and started his Ph.D. in English and Education at the University of Michigan; Appellant’s Ph.D. was awarded by the University of South Carolina after completion of his dissertation. (R. pp. 275-276.) Appellant was employed by Respondent from 1995 until 2017. (Id.) Appellant began employment with Respondent as an English teacher at Burke High

School from 1995-2006, during which time he was named Respondent's Teacher of the Year and served as a Teacher Specialist on Site for the S.C. State Department of Education. (Id.) In 2009, Appellant became the Program Coordinator (also referred to as Program Director) of Clark Academy, an alternative program for at-risk high school students.¹ (R. p. 278.) The position of Program Coordinator is classified by Respondent as on the level of Assistant Principal. (R. pp. 342-343, 511-513.)

On Thursday, April 21, 2016, Respondent's newly hired Superintendent, Dr. Postlewait, whom Appellant had never met, called Appellant out of a large staff meeting to ask him if he was involved with the Charleston Teacher Alliance (CTA) and why he appeared so uncomfortable when she was speaking earlier that day about her frustrations with that group. (R. pp. 329-330.) Appellant told Dr. Postlewait he had not been involved with that teachers' group since he had become an administrator ten (10) years earlier. (Id.)

A few days after this conversation, on Friday afternoon April 22, 2016, an incident involving a dress code violation occurred at Appellant's school. (R. pp. 286, 294.) Specifically, a student came to school in a dress that was too short and she refused to put medical scrub pants on under her dress, which was the usual solution to dress code violations at the school unless the student wanted to go home or have different clothes brought to school. (R. p. 327.) The student eventually agreed to wear the scrubs after being required to sit in the cafeteria and being told to do so by her mother. (R. pp. 327-328.)² Appellant told the student to return the scrubs to the office

¹ The Order appealed from erroneously states on page 1 that Appellant was the former principal of Clark Academy. (R. p. 6.) Appellant was never a principal; he was an assistant principal. This fact is relevant to the determination as to whether Appellant was a public official under South Carolina law. See Argument 1.d. herein.

² Following a hearing pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 59-5-70 (B), a S.C. Department of Education hearing officer found as fact that the student was a significant offender, was verbally abusive, and had previous dress code violations. (R. p. 419.)

before she went home that day. (R. p. 328.) When Appellant learned that the student had not returned the scrub pants before leaving the school building, he sent a staff member to the bus to retrieve the scrubs. (Id.)

The staff member reported that the student refused to return the scrubs so Appellant went to the bus, boarded it and asked the student, who was seated in the back of the bus, to come to the front of the bus to talk to him. (R. p. 306.) When the student refused to come to the front of the bus to talk to Appellant and started cursing, Appellant told the student he was not going to let the bus leave until she gave him the scrubs; the student then threw the scrubs to the front of the bus. (Id.)

Unbeknownst to Appellant, the student had switched clothes with another student at the end of the day so instead of going home in the dress she had worn to school, she was wearing a jacket and shirt over the loaned scrub pants when she got on her bus. (R. p. 308.) When Appellant got off the bus with the scrubs the student had thrown at him, he had no idea the student was not wearing the same dress on the bus that she had worn to school. (R. pp. 308, 328.) Appellant was standing near the bus when the student rolled the bus window down and told him she was sitting in her panties. (R. p. 328.) Appellant immediately sent a female staff member to the bus to return the scrubs to the student and remove her from the bus.³ (R. pp. 308-309.)

Appellant was almost immediately placed on administrative leave “pending an investigation” due to his handling of the dress code incident and allegedly for two (2) other issues, which two (2) additional issues Respondent later admitted had no basis in fact. (R. pp. 295-296,

³ There are material issues of fact regarding the dress code incident; specifically, the student’s and Appellant’s statements and interactions prior to, during, and after the student boarded the school bus on April 22, 2016 and whether Appellant’s actions as Assistant Principal were appropriate. (See, e.g., R. pp. 307-309, 327-330, 427-430, 440-446, 415-420, 451-492.)

327-329, 334-335, 337-340, 357, 376-377.) At the time, Appellant was employed under an annual administrator's contract which ran through the academic year 2016-2017. (R. p. 343.)

Appellant's supervisor Jennifer Coker told Appellant the administrative leave would likely only be for two (2) days and that she was placing him on leave primarily based on social media posts made by the uncle of the student involved in the dress code incident. (R. pp. 330, 347-348.) When Ms. Coker placed Appellant on leave after the incident, she had only been his supervisor for about three (3) months and she had no information other than she had been told by another of Respondent's employees that the police were investigating the incident. (R. pp. 356-357, 362-364.)

Appellant objected to being placed on leave as he knew his sudden absence from Clark Academy would make it appear that he had done something improper. (R. p. 330.) Jennifer Coker started and completed her "investigation" within a week without speaking to the student involved in the dress code incident.⁴ (R. pp. 302, 334-335, 362-365.)

On April 26, 2016, *The Post and Courier* published two (2) articles about the incident with Appellant's photograph and reported twice that Respondent had no comment. (R. pp. 383-388.) Previously, Respondent had responded to dress code violation issues by defending its administrators. (R. p. 301.) For instance, when there was a dress code violation at Moultrie Middle

⁴ There are material issues of fact regarding Respondent's motives and good faith when it removed Appellant so quickly as Program Director at Clark Academy. For instance, whether it was relevant that Dr. Postlewait singled Appellant out in a meeting the day before he was placed on administrative leave after falsely identifying him as being involved with a teachers' group she criticized (R. p. 330); why Respondent decided so quickly that Appellant had mishandled the dress code incident and failed to defer to his judgment regarding this disciplinary issue (*Id.*, R. pp. 362-365, 371); why two (2) of the allegations made against Appellant allegedly justifying his immediate removal were never mentioned prior to the dress code incident and then were dropped by Respondent (R. pp. 334-335, 337-340, 357, 362-365, 371, 376-377); why Appellant's successor was hired within a matter of days; why Ms. English-Watson stated Ms. Coker decided to remove Appellant from his administrative position although Ms. Coker denied that she made this decision (R. pp. 161-162, 369-370); and why Respondent failed to follow its written policy regarding the transfer of administrators. (R. pp. 396-397.)

School, Respondent actively provided information to the newspaper and stated it had confidence in the principal of that school. (R. pp. 301, 320.) Although Respondent had worked cooperatively and collaboratively with principals before and had assumed their disciplinary actions were appropriate, in this case Respondent did not defend Appellant. (R. p. 301.)

On Wednesday, April 27, 2016, only three (3) days into Jennifer Coker's investigation, Appellant was notified by several co-workers that another assistant principal had introduced himself to the students at Clark as "the Program Director for the remainder of the year" and told them that "things had been done wrong around here for a long time." (R. p. 302.) On Friday, April 29, 2016, Appellant was approached by a neighbor, who told him that an assistant principal at Burke High School sent an e-mail to the Burke faculty saying farewell as she had been asked to be the Interim Program Director of Clark through the end of the year. (Id.)

On May 1, 2016, Appellant sent an e-mail to Dr. Postlewait and other District administrators with an advanced copy of an Op-Ed that he had written regarding the Post and Courier's coverage of the disciplinary incident, requesting Respondent provide correct information to the public. (R. pp. 390-392.) When Ms. Coker learned about Appellant's letter to the editor, Appellant testified that Ms. Coker told a colleague of his, "Things are going to get much worse for Andrew in the District," although Ms. Coker testified, she did not recall saying that. (R. pp. 320, 367.)

On May 3, 2016, Appellant met with administrators Michele English-Watson, Jennifer Coker, and Will Suggs. Ms. English-Watson gave Appellant a letter notifying him that he was being removed from his position as Program Director at Clark Academy due to: 1) contract issuance problems (which Ms. Coker later testified at her deposition had been resolved prior to the dress code incident) (R. pp. 282-283, 301-302); 2) concerns about Appellant's leadership (which had ever been communicated to Appellant); and 3) failure to handle a dress code incident properly.

(R. pp. 334-335.) Appellant was told that he would remain on paid administrative leave, that he needed to be ready to report to a new work assignment at any time, and that he could not appeal. (R. p. 330.) Respondent's Transfer of Administrative policy states, "employees affected by a transfer shall be advised in a conference, followed by written notice, of the new assignment." (R. p. 397)⁵

On May 4, 2016, Respondent's Board Member Chris Collins, without talking to Appellant or knowing any of the details of the dress code incident, based only on what he inferred from comments made to him by Dr. Postlewait, told the Chronicle newspaper that he thought Appellant should be fired due to how he handled the dress code incident. (R. pp. 394, 499, 501-509.) Appellant was never fired but he was also never transferred to a different administrative position.

Throughout the summer of 2016, Appellant waited to be informed of his new administrative assignment but he never received a call, letter or other indication as to where Respondent was planning to transfer him. (R. pp. 301-302.) In July 2016, Respondent falsely stated to the Post & Courier that Appellant had been reassigned, although a month later in August there were still no plans to reassign Appellant to a different administrative position. (R. pp. 296, 301-302, 396-397.)

In July 2016, one week prior to the start of the 2016-17 school year, Appellant was called to a meeting with Terri Nichols. Appellant asked directly about his administrative transfer and was told by Ms. Nichols that she had no information about his transfer. (R. pp. 324, 399.) Appellant was concerned about the damage to his professional reputation from remaining out of work for so long so he offered to work as a teacher and he was assigned to teach English at Stall High School. (R. pp. 324, 330.)

⁵ Why Appellant was never transferred is an issue of fact relevant to Appellant's defamation and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing causes of action.

Appellant filed a grievance per Respondent's grievance policy against Jennifer Coker, Michele English-Watson, Dr. Postlewait, and Chris Collins in August of 2016 due to their refusal to transfer him to a different administrative position. (R. pp. 296-299, 401.) Six (6) weeks after Appellant submitted his grievance, on October 18, 2016, Respondent's Board Chair told Appellant that she was returning his grievance because the policy "requires that you start with your immediate supervisor and work your way up the chain of command." (R. p. 403.) Three (3) of the four (4) people Appellant had filed a grievance against were decisions-makers in his grievance process. On October 31, 2016, Appellant requested a copy of the written procedures regarding the grievance process from Respondent's attorney John Emerson. (R. pp. 405-406.) On November 15, 2016, Appellant received a letter from a different attorney working for Respondent that contained a different employee grievance process Appellant was told he had to follow. (R. pp. 408-411.) Appellant was told in the letter that the new grievance procedures "have not been submitted in final form to the Superintendent" but that "Dr. Postlewait has reviewed the procedures and maintains a copy in her office."⁶ (R. p. 408.)

On November 28, 2016, three (3) months after his original grievance was submitted, Appellant was asked to present his grievance in a meeting to Ms. Coker, his immediate supervisor, and then in a meeting with his next immediate supervisor, English-Watson. (R. pp. 296-299.) Appellant was next told to meet with Dr. Harrison, who was not involved in any of the decisions regarding Appellant's failure to be transferred. (Id.) On March 8, 2017, Appellant formally

⁶ Why Respondent required Appellant to use an unapproved grievance procedure rather than the published and approved grievance procedure is an issue of material fact relevant to Appellant's due process cause of action as the approved grievance had administrative procedures whereas the unapproved policy did not. The decision to change grievance policies allowed Appellant's grievance to drag on and on. Further, the first grievance policy allowed a hearing before the full Board whereas the second grievance policy made the Superintendent the final decisionmaker. (R. pp. 401, 408-411.)

appealed to Dr. Postlewait (the third person who was the subject of his grievance.) (Id.) On May 17, 2017, Appellant notified Dr. Postlewait that he wanted a hearing before the full Board. (R. pp. 321-322.) Appellant never received a grievance hearing before the Board. (Id.)⁷

The S.C. Department of Education investigated Appellant's handling of the dress code violation in order to determine whether or not to remove his teacher's license. (R. pp. 413-420.) The hearing officer issued a Report and Recommendation finding, "[Appellant's] judgment in demanding the return of the scrubs without knowing with certainty how the student was attired was flawed. However, such does not rise to the level of inappropriate or unprofessional conduct." (R. p. 420.) Respondent was represented at the hearing by legal staff who argued against Appellant's interests (R. pp. 413-420) and the S.C. Department of Education's determination that Appellant had acted properly during the dress code incident was never communicated to Respondent's Board. (R. pp. 506-507).

V. LEGAL ARGUMENTS

1. **Appellant presented sufficient evidence from which a jury could find he was defamed.**
 - a. **The Lower Court erred in granting summary judgment on Appellant's defamation by *innuendo* cause of action as a jury could find Respondent's placement of Appellant on leave and its subsequent failure to transfer him or defend his actions as Program Director plainly meant Respondent believed Appellant was unfit for his job.**

The Lower Court held the facts in this case were similar to the facts in Fountain v. First Reliance Bank and Respondent's conduct fell short of establishing an implied defamatory meaning. (R. pp. 15-16.) Conduct and insinuations can be defamatory. "To render the defamatory

⁷ Why Appellant was refused a full hearing before Respondent's Board is also in dispute and relevant to Respondent's motives.

statement actionable, it is not necessary that the false charge be made in a direct, open and positive manner. A mere insinuation is as actionable as a positive assertion if it is false and malicious and the meaning is plain.” Tyler v. Macks Stores of S.C., Inc., 275 S.C. 456, 458, 272 S.E.2d 633, 634 (1980) (quoting Timmons v. News & Press, Inc., 232 S.C. 639, 644, 103 S.E.2d 277, 280 (1958)). In Fountain v. First Reliance Bank, 398 S.C. 434, 441–42, 730 S.E.2d 305, 309 (2012), the Supreme Court quoted the Tyler case:

The plaintiff contends that his discharge, following the giving of a polygraph test and the immediate firing of the manager thereafter, gave fellow employees and others the feeling and belief that he had been discharged for some wrongful activity. He concludes that this insinuation and inference of wrongdoing can amount to the publication of defamatory matter. It is established that **a defamatory insinuation may be made by actions or conduct as well as by word.** 50 Am. Jur.2d Libel and Slander, Section 26, page 539.

275 S.C. at 458, 272 S.E.2d at 634 (emphasis added).

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