RECEIVED

Jul 01 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2018-CP-10-00123
Appellate Case No. 2020-001460

Andrew Halevi, Ph.D.,

Appellant,

v.

Charleston County School District,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.

Eugene H. Matthews
Post Office Drawer 7788
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
T: (803) 771-4400
F: (803) 779-0016

Attorney for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANT’S DEFAMATION BY INNUENDO CAUSE OF ACTION?

In his discussion of the “innuendo” theory of defamation, Appellant’s argument fails because it inadequately addresses the requirement that an “insinuation” may be actionable only if (1) it is false and malicious, and (2) its meaning is plain. *Fountain v. First Reliance Bank*, 398 S.C. 434, 441-442, 730 S.E.2d 305, 309 (2012). For this reason, Appellant’s reliance on this theory of defamation is misplaced.

Appellant alleged that CCSD defamed him by “innuendo,” specifically by placing him on a paid leave after the incident of April 22, 2016, and by “failing to return Appellant to work promptly after the incident and a subsequent demotion of Appellant

from administrator to teacher were defamatory.” (ROA p. 190, lines 10-20). These reasons – and the others Appellant has belatedly mentioned in his appellate brief, such as CCSD’s “not defending him in the press” – do not create a genuine issue of material fact. Rather, the trial court correctly applied the legal standard articulated in *Fountain* and in the other cases it cited to find that Appellant’s allegations simply do not amount to defamation by innuendo.

Indeed, the trial court’s reasoning bears repeating. CCSD placed Appellant on a paid leave while CCSD investigated the incident by questioning students, staff members, and Appellant himself. This is the normal protocol followed by CCSD in like instances. (ROA pp. 250-253 and ROA pp. 238-241). The investigation found, as Appellant himself admits, that he took Erica’s pants and left her exposed to other students only in her panties. It is unsurprising that CCSD (1) took the time necessary to complete its investigation, (2) took time over the summer to determine Appellant’s next assignment, and (3) lost faith in Appellant’s ability as a leader due to his mishandling of the incident.

Further, it also does not matter that Appellant thought that CCSD could have handled the matter differently. CCSD followed normal protocol, and was well within its authority to investigate the matter, interview witnesses, and draw the conclusion that it did, which notably did not result in Appellant’s termination. (ROA pp. 238-241; ROA pp. 250-253).

In this regard, Appellant’s claim even pales in comparison to other “defamation by *innuendo*” claims that have been dismissed where employees were actually fired. For instance, in *Johnson v. Dillard’s Inc.*, 2007 WL 2792232, at *18 (D.S.C. Sept. 24, 2007), there was no defamation by “innuendo” even where the employee could show that she

was escorted out of the store by the off-duty police officer, because there was no evidence that the “positive assertion” was false and malicious and that its meaning was plain. In *Hampton v. Conso Prod., Inc.*, 808 F.Supp. 1227, 1237 (D.S.C. 1992), the court found that a reasonable trier of fact could not find that the defendant acted maliciously in requesting the employee to go on medical leave and receive medical treatment at the defendant’s expense, where the employee alleged that these acts gave the impression to others that the Appellant was mentally ill and/or in need of medical confinement. Likewise, the court dismissed an “innuendo” claim where the employee was fired in close proximity to an altercation between the employee and his supervisor, allegedly leaving other employees “with the mindset that [the employee] had done something improper,” because the employee “has not alleged facts to show that the meaning was plain.” *Simmons v. Sci. Int’l Applications Corp.*, 2012 WL 761716, at *3-4 (D.S.C. Feb. 13, 2012), *report and recommendation adopted*, 2012 WL 761726 (D.S.C. Mar. 8, 2012). *See also, Fredrich v. Dolgencorp, LLC*, No. 3:13-CV-01072-JFA, 2014 WL 4417407, at *16 (D.S.C. Sept. 8, 2014) (“Aside from bare allegations and the fact that he was terminated, Plaintiff has failed to provide evidence that the Defendant’s actions on the day of his termination amounted to any defamatory conduct insinuating that he stole money, that he was incompetent as a store manager, or that he was prejudice. An employer terminating an employee for misconduct cannot by itself be held to be defamatory, something more is needed.”).

Furthermore, and similar to the finding in *Fountain*, it is also absolutely true that Appellant’s actions – that he admitted and that CCSD’s investigation confirmed – compromised CCSD’s faith in Appellant’s ability to serve in an administrative leadership

role. As in *Fountain*, this is a complete bar to this basis of Appellant's defamation claim.³

For this reason alone, Appellant's reliance on this argument to support his defamation claim is unavailing, and this Court should affirm the trial court and dismiss the appeal.

II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN HOLDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT CHARLESTON COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD MEMBER CHRIS COLLINS WAS NOT SPEAKING IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY WHEN HE MADE DEROGATORY COMMENTS ABOUT APPELLANT?

Other than making conclusory remarks that Chris Collins was acting within the scope of his position as a member of CCSD's Board of Trustees to the press concerning the incident, Appellant has failed to cite any authority supporting his position. He simply restates the legal conclusions that the trial court properly rejected.

It bears noting that the trial court relied on Collins's own sworn testimony, and the undisputed facts that Collins's statements were very critical of CCSD's decision not to fire Appellant – including accusations that fellow Board members were racists – in finding that Collins was not acting as an agent of CCSD, or a spokesman for CCSD or its Board, when he opined on a matter of undeniable public concern. The South Carolina Tort Claims Act (SCTCA) expressly states that “employee conduct outside the scope of his official duties or which constitutes actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude” is an exception to South Carolina's waiver of immunity. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(17). “Scope of official duty” means (1) acting in and about the official business of a governmental entity and (2) performing official duties. S.C.

³CCSD asserted “truth” as a defense in this action. (ROA p. 47).

Code Ann. § 15-78-30(i). *Benekritis v. Johnson*, 882 F. Supp. 521, 528 (D.S.C. 1995) (suit barred under SCTCA where after-school pickup basketball game conducted in gymnasium one mile from the school was not “official business” of school district and its employee participants were not performing “official duties”); *Farr v. Lott*, 2019 WL 2051300, at *1 (S.C. App. May 8, 2019) (lawsuit barred against governmental entity under SCTCA where public employee was not acting in the scope of his employment).

For this reason alone, CCSD is not a proper defendant concerning Appellant’s defamation claim, and this Court should affirm the trial court and dismiss the appeal.

III. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN HOLDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT APPELLANT WAS A “PUBLIC OFFICIAL” FOR PURPOSES OF THE DEFAMATION CAUSE OF ACTION?

As an initial matter, Appellant’s claim that he was not a “principal” while employed at Clark Academy flies directly in the face of his own sworn testimony. The trial court correctly found that “there is a voluminous and undisputed record of [Appellant’s] own sworn testimony establishing that both CCSD and [Appellant] considered him to be the ‘Principal’ of Clark Academy. Indeed, Appellant identified himself in his sworn testimony on multiple occasions as the “Principal” of Clark Academy.

The trial court also properly found, as a matter of first impression, that a principal of a school is a “public official” for purposes of adjudicating defamation claims. While Appellant pointed to two cases that found to the contrary, he failed to present to this Court with the voluminous authority that led the trial court to find that “the preponderance of courts that have considered the matter have found that principals are

public officials for these purposes.” See *Cronin v. Pelletier*, 2018 WL 3965004, at *2 (Conn. Super. Ct. July 26, 2018) (principal of a public high school was a public official under the principles of the law of defamation); *Collins v. Taos Bd. of Educ.*, 893 F. Supp. 2d 1193, 1205 (D.N.M. 2012) (“After considering the case law, the Court predicts that the New Mexico Supreme Court would classify a public school principal as a public official within the meaning of *Rosenblatt*.”); *Williams v. Detroit Bd. of Educ.*, 523 F. Supp. 2d 602, 610 (E.D. Mich. 2007), *aff’d*, 306 Fed. App’x 943 (6th Cir. 2009) (“This Court is persuaded by the Supreme Court of Vermont’s reasoning in *Palmer* and the opinions of other courts concluding that principals are public officials to the extent their defamation claims involve communications relating to their conduct as principals.”); *Warren v. Birmingham Bd. of Educ.*, 739 So. 2d 1125, 1133 (Ala. Civ. App. 1999) (affirming trial court’s holding that an elementary school principal was a public official); *Jee v. New York Post Co.*, 671 N.Y.S.2d 920, 924 (Sup. Ct. 1998), *aff’d*, 260 A.D.2d 215, 688 N.Y.S.2d 49 (1999) (Principal must be considered a “public official” for the purposes of the defamation law.); *Johnson v. Robbinsdale Indep. Sch. Dist. No. 281*, 827 F.Supp. 1439, 1443 (D. Minn. 1993) (finding that “public school principals criticized for their official conduct are public officials” where principal sued students’ parents after they wrote a letter critical of the principals’ conduct); *Palmer v. Bennington School District*, 159 Vt. 31, 615 A.2d 498 (1992), (summary judgment properly granted to the school district on the principal’s defamation claim, holding that he was a “public official” and that he failed to show that the school board published the statements with “actual malice.”); *Junior–Spence v. Keenan*, 1990 WL 17241, at *4 (Tenn. Ct. App. Feb. 28, 1990) (finding that principal was a public official because she

was an authority figure and a government representative to the students and parents with whom she dealt and her actions affected the taxpayers in the State); *Stevens v. Tillman*, 855 F.2d 394, 403 (7th Cir. 1988) (finding that principal was a public official where “her performance as public official was open to public comment” and, while not an elected public official, “she possessed great discretion over the operation of the [school]” and “how she used that discretion was the subject of legitimate public debate”); *State v. Defley*, 395 So.2d 759, 761 (La. 1981) (concluding that a school supervisor would be considered a public official because the position “ ‘is such that the public has an independent interest in the qualification and performance of the person who holds it, beyond the general public interest in the qualifications and performance of all government employees,’ ”); *Reaves v. Foster*, 200 So.2d 453, 456 (Miss. 1967) (holding that school principal was a public official, reasoning that statements criticizing her acts were “fair comment in a matter concerning a large sector of the county’s population, in the handling of a matter connected with government, and in an effort by those involved to better conditions in the school as they deemed it” and that the State Constitution “provides ... a common school system, and the laws provide for the selection of the trustees and county superintendents, and the appointment by the superintendent and board of trustees of the principal to be in charge of a school where the young of the county are given an opportunity to secure an education at the taxpayers’ expense.”); *Kapiloff v. Dunn*, 27 Md. App. 514, 343 A.2d 251, 258 (1975) (finding that a high school principal was a public official under the *New York Times* standard and that the principal’s “suitability for the position was a matter of public or general interest or concern”).

Because Appellant was a “public official,” he could only be defamed if the defendant acted with “actual malice,” and for that reason, CCSD was not a proper defendant to the defamation action. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(17); *Scott v. McClain*, 272 S.C. 198, 250 S.E.2d 118, 120 (1978); *Gause v. Doe*, 317 S.C. 39, 42, 451 S.E.2d 408, 409 (S.C. App. 1994).

On this point, Appellant entirely omits from his argument that “common law malice” is a concept that is distinct from “actual malice.” *McGlothlin v. Hennelly*, 2020 WL 1876275, at *11 (D.S.C. Apr. 15, 2020). “Common law malice” means the defendant acted with ill will toward the plaintiff, or acted recklessly or wantonly, *i.e.*, with conscious indifference of the plaintiff’s rights. “Actual malice” means the defendant published the statement with knowledge it was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not. *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 466-67, 629 S.E.2d 653, 665 (2006); *Seaton v. City of N. Charleston*, 2012 WL 6186158, at *2 (D.S.C. Dec. 12, 2012). Appellant’s attempt to import an argument on this point based on “common law malice” against a “public official” must be “presumed” is directly contrary to the precedents of South Carolina law and should be rejected.

For these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court and dismiss the appeal.

IV. DID THE LOWER COURT FIND THAT STATEMENTS OF OPINION CANNOT BE DEFAMATORY?

Curiously, Appellant argues that the trial court found that “any criticism of Appellant’s conduct was protected fair comment,” and that for that additional reason, CCSD could not be held liable for Collins’s comments. In this respect, the undersigned

has examined the trial court's order thoroughly, and the trial court does not appear to make this finding at all.

In his appellate brief, Appellant has cryptically linked references to Collins's alleged "protected fair comment" with SCDE's decision concerning his license. This theory is very difficult to understand, especially since any references to the SCDE decision or proceedings would be inadmissible, and therefore unavailing under Rule 56, SCRPC. *CCSD's Motion in Limine*; see also *Shelton v. Oscar Mayer Foods Corp.*, 325 S.C. 248, 251, 481 S.E.2d 706 (1997); *Snipes v. McAndrew*, 280 S.C. 320, 323, 313 S.E.2d 294, 296 (1984) ("We are of the opinion that policy decisions concerning where an employee will best serve the school district are better left to school officials, not the courts. Unless the legislature decides to require full, adversarial hearings for teachers upon their transfer, reassignment, or demotion to another certificated position, this Court will not require such a hearing."); *Daufuskie Island Util. Co., Inc. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 420 S.C. 305, 315, 803 S.E.2d 280, 285-86 (2017) (Settlement Agreement was not relevant evidence as defined in Rule 401, and was therefore inadmissible at the PSC hearing, where the applicant seeking rate increases was not party to the agreement).

In any event, it appears uncertain why Appellant has raised this issue, as it does not appear in the trial court's opinion and order dismissing the lawsuit.

V. **DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN HOLDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT APPELLANT COULD NOT BRING A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATION OF HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS?**

Appellant's argument on this point is especially hard to follow. As an initial matter, Appellant's argument does not appear related at all to the due process claim that

he actually made in his Complaint, in which he alleged that he was deprived of a “property interest” in continued employment, which is not relevant in any manner to this case, as CCSD never deprived Appellant of continued employment or other legally-recognized property interest. As set forth in South Carolina law, Appellant could not grieve “position or salary” as an administrator under the Teacher Employment and Dismissal Act. *Henry-Davenport v. School District of Fairfield Co.*, 391 S.C. 85, 89, 705 S.E.2d 26, 28 (2011) (the legislature, in enacting S.C. Code Ann. § 59-24-15,⁴ overruled *Johnson v. Spartanburg County School Dist. No. 7*, 314 S.C. 340, 444 S.E.2d 501 (1994)).

The legislature enacted section 59-24-15 after the *Johnson* decision, and the plain language of the statute directly contradicts the holding in *Johnson*. The statute plainly states that an administrator has no rights in her “position or salary,” and the legislature made no exception or distinction concerning the administrator's status as a certified educator.

391 S.C. at 89, 705 S.E.2d at 28.

For this reason alone, Appellant cannot maintain a “due process” claim, as the State has explicitly determined – both through the legislature and the courts – that he has no property right to the position or salary of an administrator, and that he remained employed with CCSD until he voluntarily resigned.

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